IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

SUPREME COURT FILED

SHARMALEE GOONEWARDENE, an individual,

APR 17 2017

Plaintiff and Appellant,

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

VS.

Deputy

ADP, LLC; ADP PAYROLL SERVICES, INC.; AD PROCESSING, LLC,

Defendants and Respondents.

On Review of a Decision of the California Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Division Four, No. B267010

On Appeal from the Superior Court of California, County of Los Angeles The Hon. William Barry, Judge Civil Case No. TC026406

PETITIONERS' OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Robert A. Lewis* (SBN 83630)
Thomas M. Peterson (SBN 96011)
Zachary S. Hill (SBN 275886)
MORGAN, LEWIS & BOCKIUS LLP

II. INTRODUCTION

California employers for more than 60 years have engaged individuals and businesses to assist them with their nondelegable obligation to properly pay their employees. The demand by employers for assistance with their payroll obligations has resulted in the creation of a huge industry to provide payroll services to employers. Petitioner ADP, LLC is one of the many businesses that provides payroll services to thousands of California employers.

Until the court of appeal decision here, how a California employee challenged an allegedly improper wage payment—whether or not a payroll service provider had been engaged by the employer—was well-established, functioned effectively, and involved only the employer who owed the wages. The employee made a wage claim against his or her employer pursuant to the Labor Code provisions the Legislature established to ensure employees are paid properly and promptly. If the employee's claim had no merit, the claim terminated. If the employee's claim had merit, the employer paid the wages it owed. Separately from resolution of the employee's wage claim, the contract between the employer and its payroll service provider determined the recourse available to the employer if an error by the payroll service provider contributed to an improper wage payment.

Over the years, some employees tried to enmesh payroll service providers into this long-established statutory resolution process, generally with arguments that payroll service providers are employers or coemployers of their clients' employees. Indeed, Plaintiff Goonewardene here attempted to do exactly that. But California courts uniformly have rejected such efforts, as the court of appeal did here in affirming the trial court's rejection of Plaintiff's claims under the Labor Code. Op.-12-20.²

But while affirming the law that payroll service providers cannot be liable under the Labor Code for the improper payment of wages, the court of appeal inexplicably invented new law that would allow employees to bring wage claims against payroll service providers through the back door. In holding that employees are intended third-party beneficiaries of the contracts between employers and payroll service providers—and, for that reason, may also pursue tort claims for professional negligence and negligent misrepresentation against payroll service providers—the court of appeal disrupts the law that efficiently has resolved employee wage disputes for decades.

It is no exaggeration to say that the court of appeal's decision, if upheld, will mean that payroll service providers routinely will become defendants in pending and future wage-and-hour lawsuits simply because they assisted employers in discharging their nondelegable duties to pay wages. Because thousands of wage-and-hour lawsuits are filed annually in California, payroll service providers will incur crushing litigation

² The court of appeal's November 4 opinion is cited "Op.-__" and the November 29 modification as "M-Op.-__." Plaintiff-Appellant's court of appeal appendix is cited "[vol]AA-__." Respondents' one volume appendix is cited "RA-__." Emphasis is added in quoted material except where indicated.

expenses that will upend the economics of their industry, inevitably put some payroll service providers out of business, and raise the cost of their services to employers.

It is also no exaggeration to say that this extraordinary change in California law to add another defendant to wage-and-hour lawsuits will complicate and delay those lawsuits and increase the expenditure of time and money by all the parties and by the trial courts, with no compensating benefit for anyone. The purpose of wage-and-hour litigation is to adjudicate whether an employee was properly paid. The court of appeal's newly-recognized causes of action against payroll service providers are redundant to the claims the Labor Code and the employment relationship make available to employees to ensure that wages are properly paid. Worse still, by recognizing two tort claims against payroll service providers that are unavailable to employees against their employers under the Labor Code, the decision perversely exposes payroll service providers, because of the differences between tort and contract damage measures, to potentially greater liability than the employers who promised the wages to their employees and benefitted from their work. Moreover, recognition of direct claims by employees against their employers' payroll service providers will cause a circularity of litigation, since any payroll service provider found liable for wages inevitably will bring a claim back against the employer for indemnification or contribution.

As detailed here, the Court should hold that employees are not third-party beneficiaries of contracts between their employers and payroll service providers. Such a holding follows from the nondelegable nature of wage-and-hour law duties that fall on employers and subject them to the comprehensive and exclusive remedies created by the

Legislature. It also follows from application of each of the different tests used to identify third-party contract beneficiaries. Employees are not third-party beneficiaries because payroll service providers do not discharge employers' nondelegable wage-and-hour obligations, such contracts do not display a clear intent to benefit employees or allow them independent powers of enforcement, and the principal purpose of such contracts is to assist employers in fulfilling their wage-and-hour obligations, not benefit employees. The Court need go no further than this in addressing issues concerning third-party beneficiary contracts.

Nevertheless, the case provides the Court with an opportunity to refine the standards used to identify third-party beneficiaries given the widely held view that current standards are vague and unpredictable. Thus, the Court could consider adjusting the standards for identifying third-party beneficiaries to focus on: (a) whether contracting parties expressly conferred enforcement rights on third parties; (b) whether third-party enforcement rights are necessary to effectuate the contracting parties' performance objectives; and/or (c) whether Plaintiff's allegations are sufficient to allow intelligent application of the standards for identifying third-party beneficiary contracts.

Whether the Court applies existing case law, or refines the standards for identifying third-party beneficiary contracts, Plaintiff here has no third-party beneficiary rights based on her employer's contract for payroll preparation assistance.

Turning to the tort claims at issue, the Court should hold that employees may not sue their employer's payroll service providers on causes of action for professional negligence or negligent misrepresentation based on alleged errors in paychecks or wage

statements. The court of appeal allowed these tort causes of action based on its erroneous classification of employees as third-party beneficiaries. Once that error is corrected, the basis for recognizing negligence claims disappears.

However, tort liability is unwarranted in any event. This Court's precedents disapprove of claims in tort that overlap with contract obligations or seek recovery for economic losses. Additionally, this Court's precedents for determining the existence of duties preclude recognizing either a professional negligence or negligent misrepresentation cause of action.

This Court should order that the trial court judgment be affirmed.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The Parties And The Payroll-Processing Industry

Plaintiff Sharmalee Goonewardene alleges she did travel-agent work for two employers named Altour, Inc.³ (1-AA-43, ¶¶7-8, 10, 46, 47 ¶¶26-28) Defendant ADP, LLC provided payroll-processing services to Altour. (1-AA-42, ¶¶4, 72, 187)

Payroll service providers assist employers in fulfilling their payroll obligations.

While employment relationships are contractual,⁴ an array of federal and state laws apply to wage payments, working hours, paychecks, wage statements and tax withholding.

Employers are responsible for complying with these "wage-and-hour" laws. They must

³ Altour allegedly comprises two corporations named Altour International, Inc. (one in New York; one in California) (2-AA-78-80, ¶14-32; 2-AA-89, ¶102)

⁴ Turner v. Anheuser-Busch, Inc. (1994) 7 Cal.4th 1238, 1252.

answer for noncompliance, even if they hire payroll service providers to assist them or to function in lieu of an in-house payroll department. *See*, *post*, topic IVA.

Under typical payroll-processing arrangements, the employer—"the party who hires the employee and benefits from the employee's work"—sends to the payroll service provider "information about the [workers'] hours and rate[s] of pay"; paychecks and wage statements are then prepared using the information; completed paychecks and wage statements are either returned to the employer or distributed directly to workers.

Futrell v. Payday California, Inc. (2010) 190 Cal.App.4th 1419, 1432, citing in part Singh v. 7-Eleven, Inc. (N.D. Cal. Mar. 8, 2007, No. C-05-04534 RMW), 2007 WL 715488. "The preparation of payroll is largely a ministerial task, albeit a complex task in today's market place." Futrell, 190 Cal.App.4th at 1432.

Thousands of California employers make widespread use of payroll-processing services. Hundreds of entities provide payroll-processing services, and range in size from small enterprises, with few employees, to large firms with hundreds of employees dedicated exclusively to serving those employing California workers.⁵

B. Plaintiff Sues Her Employer On Employment-Related Claims And Then Adds Claims Against Payroll Service Provider ADP

Goonewardene sued Altour in April 2012 alleging employment-related causes of action: failure to comply with Labor Code requirements governing hours of work and wage payments; wrongful termination; and racial discrimination. (1-AA-3)

⁵ The breadth and diversity of the payroll-processing service industry is described in the many letters submitted to this Court in support of granting review.

Two years later, Goonewardene amended to add Altour's payroll-processing vendor—ADP, LLC—in a single cause of action under California's Unfair Competition Law (UCL), Business & Professions Code §17200.6 ADP, LLC demurred. (1-AA-12) Goonewardene sought leave to file a Fifth Amended Complaint ("5AC") and add as defendants AD Processing, LLC (the name under which ADP LLC does business in California) and ADP Payroll Services, Inc. (1-AA-37, 66 ¶1, 2-AA-76-77, ¶¶6-8) (collectively "ADP"). ADP opposed the proposed amendment. (1-AA-10)

C. The Trial Court Rejects Plaintiff's Attempt To Blur Employer Duties To Fulfill Its Wage-And-Hour Compliance Obligations, But Allows Plaintiff Leave To Amend

The demurrer was sustained, and all allegations based on ADP, LLC's status as Goonewardene's alleged employer in the proposed 5AC were dismissed with prejudice. (RA-66, \P 3-5(f)) Nevertheless, the court let Goonewardene try to plead a claim based on a different theory. (*Id.*)

What followed was Goonewardene's relaunched 5AC, which realleged various claims and added new ones against ADP:

- 1. professional negligence (13th cause of action);
- 2. negligent misrepresentation (14th cause of action);
- 3. violation of B&P Code §17200 based on alleged misrepresentation (15th cause of action);
- 4. violation of B&P Code §17500, false advertising (17th cause of action);
- 5. third-party beneficiary breach of contract (18th cause of action); and

⁶ (1-AA-12, 23; 2AA-97; RA-3) (ADP, LLC was added to the thirteenth cause of action of Goonewardene's fourth amended complaint ("4AC")).

6. aiding and abetting (19th cause of action).(2-AA-97-103)

The 5AC also doubled-down on Plaintiff's already-rejected theory that the ADP defendants were Plaintiff's employer, alleging all of Goonewardene's employment-related claims against newly-added defendants AD Processing, LLC and ADP Payroll Services, Inc. (2-AA-84-97) Unsurprisingly, the court again sustained ADP's demurrer to these claims because payroll service providers do not employ their customers' workers. (1-AA-27)

As to Plaintiff's newly-added causes of action, ADP's demurrer was sustained without leave to amend in a thoughtful and detailed order. (1-AA-33-34)

The fundamental approach in the Court's rulings herein is that Plaintiff is asking the Court to blur the responsibility between the employer and its third party payroll processing vendor, and, based on the legal authorities the Court has reviewed, the Court believes that to do so would be contrary to public policy. The Court believes that the focus has to be exclusively on the *employer's* obligation to pay employees' wages, and that there needs to be a bright line obligation in that regard. As the case law has made clear, an employer's obligation to make sure its payroll checks are accurate and that its employees are properly paid their wages is "nondelegable."

1-AA-33:19-27.

While the form of judgment and order were being settled, Goonewardene sought reconsideration and filed a proposed Sixth Amended Complaint ("6AC"), which embellished some of the 5AC's allegations.⁷ (1-AA-37; 40). The trial court did not rule

⁷ As to ADP, the 6AC added new allegations—they are underscored—in paragraphs 139-157, 160, 162, 170-171 and 184-186. (1-AA-64-68, 72)

on Plaintiff's reconsideration motion. Judgment was entered on August 5, 2015. (1-AA-25)

D. The Court Of Appeal Holds That Employees May Not Sue Their Employers' Payroll Service Providers For Wage-And-Hour-Related Violations Of The Labor Code And IWC Wage Orders

On appeal, Plaintiff did not defend the sufficiency of the 5AC. Op.-6-7. Rather, the court of appeal considered whether the proposed 6AC stated any cause of action. Op.-7-8. The 6AC alleged (unchanged from the 5AC) that ADP should be liable for various Labor Code violations. Op.-13.8

The court of appeal held that ADP could not be liable for violating the Labor Code (or applicable IWC Wage Orders) because ADP was not Plaintiff's employer. The court endorsed the analysis of *Futrell*, 190 Cal.App.4th at 1432, which it quoted in part:

"[W]e conclude that 'control over wages' means that a person or entity has the power or authority to negotiate and set an employee's rate of pay, and not that a person or entity is physically involved in the preparation of an employee's paycheck. This is the only definition that makes sense. The task of preparing payroll, whether done by an internal division or department of an employer, or by an outside vendor of an employer, does not make [the preparer] an employer for purposes of liability for wages under the Labor Code wage statutes. The employer, however, is the party who hires the employee and benefits from the employee's work, and thus it is the employer to whom liability should be affixed for any unpaid wages. The extension of personal liability to the agents of an employer is not reasonably derived from the language and purposes of the Labor Code wage statues."

⁸ While the 6AC alleged causes of action for failure to provide Plaintiff with required meal and rest breaks, ADP was not named as a defendant as to them. 1-AA 51 However, Plaintiff sought to hold ADP liable for delayed and underpaid wages based on any failure to pay Plaintiff the amounts envisioned under Labor Code §226.7 when breaks are not provided. 1-AA 68

Op.-15.9

E. The Court Of Appeal Holds That Employees May Redress Employer Violations Of Labor Code And Wage Order Duties By Suing Payroll Service Providers As Third-Party Beneficiaries Of The Contracts Under Which Payroll Service Providers Assist Employers With Payroll

What the court of appeal denied to Plaintiff with one hand it awarded to Plaintiff with the other. The court imposed on payroll service providers liability for violations of the same Labor Code and Wage Order duties that apply only to employers and do not authorize causes of action against payroll service providers.

Reviewing Plaintiff's "prolix and poorly organized 6AC," Op.-9, fn.3, the court classified Goonewardene as a third-party creditor beneficiary of the alleged unwritten contract by which Altour procured ADP's assistance with its payroll. Op.-23. The court relied on the third-party beneficiary contract framework set out in the First Restatement of Contracts and applied by this Court in *Martinez v. Socoma Companies, Inc.* (1974) 11 Cal.3d 394, 400. This framework divides into three groups those third parties who would benefit from the performance of a contract entered into by others: creditor, donee, and incidental beneficiaries. Incidental beneficiaries are not third-party beneficiaries. They may not sue to enforce the contracts of others even though they benefit by performance. *Bancomer, S.A. v. Superior Court* (1996) 44 Cal.App.4th 1450, 1458. "Creditor" and "donee" beneficiaries can enforce as third-party beneficiaries. "A person cannot be a creditor beneficiary unless the promisor's performance of the contract will discharge

⁹ For similar reasons, the court held that ADP could not be sued on claims for employment discrimination, wrongful termination, Op.-20-22, or failure to pay overtime compensation in violation of federal law. Op.-19-20.

some form of legal duty owed to the beneficiary by the promisee." Op.-23, quoting *Martinez*, 11 Cal.3d at 400. "A person is a donee beneficiary only if the promisee's contractual intent is either to make a gift to [the third-party beneficiary] or to confer on him a right against the promisor." *Id.* at 400-401.

The court of appeal initially concluded: "when a business enters into a contract with a service provider clearly aimed at aiding the business in discharging its duty to supply information or benefits to certain individuals, those individuals constitute third-party beneficiaries of the contract between the business and the service provider." Op.-25. According to the court, the 6AC alleged an unwritten contract under which "ADP provided payroll calculation, records maintenance, legal advice and a host of related services to Altour for the benefit of Altour and its employees in the general area of employee wages and benefits." Op.-26, quoting 6AC. The court downplayed Plaintiff's opening brief argument that "ADP received only a record of Plaintiff's hours per day, generated by Plaintiff, and used that information to provide Plaintiff with a paycheck and earnings statement on a semi-monthly basis. ADP had no ability whatsoever to determine whether Plaintiff took or missed a meal or rest break, and calculated Plaintiff's pay on the assumption that Plaintiff never missed a break." (Court of Appeal-Appellant's Opening Brief ("AOB")-2)

Per the court, "the 6AC expressly attributed [to ADP] some of the alleged misconduct" that supposedly caused Plaintiff not to be fully compensated and to receive deficient wage statements. Op.-27. The court decided that "[t]he 6AC thus alleges that

Altour employees such as appellant are, at a minimum, third-party creditor beneficiaries of the unwritten [payroll services] agreement." Op.-26.¹⁰

F. The Court Of Appeal Holds That Employees May Also Redress Employer Violations Of Labor Code And Wage Order Duties By Suing Payroll Service Providers On Theories Of Professional Negligence And Negligent Misrepresentation

Viewing Plaintiff as a third-party creditor beneficiary of an unwritten contract between ADP and Altour, the court decided that ADP owed Altour employees a duty to prepare legally compliant paychecks and wage statements, the breach of which constitutes professional negligence. Op.-41. The court applied the factors outlined in *Biakanja v. Irving* (1958) 49 Cal.2d 647 and *Bily v. Arthur Young & Co.* (1992) 3 Cal.4th 376. Op.-41-42.

Similarly, based on Plaintiff's third-party beneficiary status, the court sanctioned suit against ADP for negligent misrepresentation based on Plaintiff's allegations that amounts paid to her and wage statements delivered to her were misleading when measured against wage-and-hour law requirements. 1-AA-66-67. Per the court, Plaintiff's allegations overcame the restriction that a negligent misrepresentation claim only lies against a professional service provider if the plaintiff is a "specifically intended"

¹⁰ In a companion footnote, the court speculated that Altour employees might arguably be third-party donee beneficiaries because of allegations that ADP provided employees "a mechanism…to access information and track their earnings." Op.-26, fn.5. In the end, however, the court made no holding about donee beneficiary status.

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