#### CASE NO. S238941

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

# SHARMALEE GOONEWARDENE, AN INDIVIDUAL,

PLAINTIFF AND APPELLANT

SUPREME COURT FILED

v.

MAY 1 6 2017

# ADP, LLC et al;

**DEFENDANTS AND RESPONDENTS** 

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Deputy

Second Appellate District Division Four B267010 Los Angeles Superior Court Case No. TC 026406 Hon. William Barry, Presiding

# RESPONDENT'S OPPOSITION TO OPENING BRIEF

Glen Broemer, SBN 165457 135 W. 225th St. Apt. F Bronx NY 10463 Fax 877-571-6997 Office 805-351-9857 glenbroemer@gmail.com Attorney for Sharmalee Goonewardene

#### **CASE NO. S238941**

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

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

factor in determining whether that defendant is to be held liable at all. This is hardly the absurd result ADP claims, and owes any force it has to general principles of tort and contract recovery, which ADP does not ask the court to rewrite. Without regard to the agreement between ADP and Altour, ADP is in approximately the position of any tortfeasor who negligently interferes with contractual relations or prospective economic advantage, liable in tort instead of contract; see *e.g. Finke v. Walt Disney Co., (2003) 110 Cal.App.4th 1210.* In fact, insofar as ADP interfered with Plaintiff's ability to obtain the benefits of her economic relationship with Altour, a theory of negligent interference should be available and serve Plaintiff's interests just as well in this case.

13. Opposing a claim for *professional* negligence, ADP argues that "no statute, regulation or rule requires that payroll service providers have particular skills. There are no state licensing requirements like those governing traditional professions" OB, p. 45. Perhaps these facts explain how it is that ADP was able to process hundreds of paychecks for Plaintiff without paying her double time, where such payments were obviously required, and never calculated her regular rate by workweek. ADP's self-characterization strays from any fact in the complaint and is contradicted by its claims of expertise at its website,

https://www.adp.com/solutions/services/payroll-services.aspx, not simply regarding multiplication and addition, but also Affordable Care Act compliance

issues, 'tax and compliance matters', and 'doing payroll better'. Success in arguing it lacks expertise here should expose ADP to widespread liability under the UCL and FAL. ADP's statement that is need not abide by any statutes or regulations, where they take on the responsibility of calculating regular rate, should shock the court, and provides convincing evidence of the need for judicial controls. In any event Plaintiff is neutral as to whether ADP is liable for negligence or professional negligence; in Plaintiff's view the duty analysis is the same either way.

14. ADP argues that there "was no foreseeability of harm to Plaintiff...since Plaintiff has remedies against her employer", OB p. 46, though of course the notion of a seeking a remedy implies one has already been harmed. ADP counsel argues, frivolously, that "there is no certainty that Plaintiff would suffer any injury from any action by ADP", OB p. 46, where such harm was close to inevitable. ADP counsel's assertion that no moral blame can attach to mere negligence, OB p. 46, is bizarre though telling. Plaintiff has suffered significant harm as a result of ADP's conduct. Moreover, at least some of this harm occurred more than 4 years ago and is only compensable if a court of appeal accepts Plaintiff's argument that her pleading of equitable estoppel and tolling should not have been stricken.

15. ADP argues that "a service provider who makes mistakes could be expected to be replaced by one of its many marketplace competitors", OB p. 46. Of course the

opposite is true where, as here, the PSP routinely makes mistakes in the employer's favor, and/or where, as here, the mistakes are not easily spotted.

Moreover, Altour paid Plaintiff twice monthly where the applicable wage order mandates calculations by the workweek, and rolled some overtime pay over to the following pay period. Plaintiff was unable to verify the accuracy of her pay for even a single pay period, and the superior court judge presiding over the case has appropriately described the calculation of Plaintiff's wages in this case as 'an administrative nightmare'.

16. Neither Altour nor ADP produced a written agreement with Altour in discovery. Plaintiff noted this in her Oppositions to ADP's demurrers, and provided facts supporting its claim that ADP breached an agreement to produce these documents while the demurrer was pending. Altour's PMK Joseph Oppold described ADP's responsibilities without identifying any supporting writing. Against this background and ignoring the rule that a demurrer can be used only to challenge defects that appear on the face of the pleading, *Blank v. Kirwan (1985)* 39 Cal. 3d 311, 318, ADP counsel argues that any plaintiff can alleged "fictionalized, unwritten payroll service contracts in order to multiply the number of defendants and get past a demurrer", OB p.47. One would think that ADP would have wanted to place any written agreement in the hands of opposing counsel immediately, if only to lay the groundwork for a CCP 128.7 motion.

17. Defendant avers, "If Plaintiff is the third-party beneficiary of the contract between her employer and ADP, then her sole remedy is an action on that contract. Tort claims are barred", OB p. 48. The crucial assertion comes without citation to authority, and it is simply incorrect. The rule developed by the Court is that "conduct amounting to a breach of contract becomes tortious only when it also violates a duty independent of the contract arising from principles of tort law" Erlich v. Menezes, 21 Cal.4th 543, 551 (1999), (endorsing the term 'contorts'). While the cases contain a variety of confusing statements, the rule from Menezes can perhaps be recast as follows: "Ignore the defendants' contractual obligations and the contract setting. Does the defendant owe a duty to the plaintiff according to tort law principles?" The alternative would permit a Defendant to reduce its risks by entering into contracts where it anticipates it will be liable for tortious conduct. ADP argues that a tort duty must be 'completely independent' of any contractual obligation, OB p. 47, and appears to assume that the facts cited in finding a tort duty must be mutually exclusive of the facts cited in any 3<sup>rd</sup> party beneficiary analysis: "The 6AC's allegations of professional negligence and breach of a third-party beneficiary contract are coextensive and related", OB p. 48.

Though in any event, considering that any statement of criteria is somewhat arbitrary and can be re-cast in another form, such a reading is untenable, and in any event is there any place in the law where there is a formal requirement that duties

must rely on exclusive criteria? Any requirement of independence must mean that, e.g., one of the steps in finding a tort duty is not that one must first find a 3<sup>rd</sup> party beneficiary relationship, or vice-versa--that each analysis proceeds according to its own set of rules. There is no danger that tort and contract will dissolve into each other, *Robinson Helicopter Co., Inc. v. Dana Corp. (2004) 34 Cal.4th 979, 988*, as one will always need to perform the tort analysis to justify a tort cause of action. In the absence of contractual consent or assumption of the risk, the presence of a contract should not decrease exposure to tort liability, nor will the presence of a contract in most cases militate towards finding tort liability.

The relationship between these causes of action in the case at bar is more analogous to the relationship between claims for intentional and negligent misrepresentation. The elements overlap, the proof presumably overlaps, though the claims are distinct and 'independent'. (*Menezes* in fact refers to an independent duty on several occasions, and only when characterizing other case holdings uses the phrase 'completely independent').

Finding a 3rd party beneficiary obligation may provide a hint as to the result one will reach under *Biakanja*, as 3<sup>rd</sup> party beneficiary analyses sometimes consider policy, though the questions are analytically distinct and ADP's claim to the contrary is confused.

ADP cites *Robinson Helicopter*, *supra at 993* for the proposition that its tort liability is limited to cases where a plaintiff suffers "personal damages independent of the plaintiff's economic loss", OB p. 49. Robinson concerns the sale of goods, and the analysis concerns the economic expectations of purchasers.

In permitting a misrepresentation claim in the contract setting, the *Robinson* Court believed that it was expanding liability, though not opening the floodgates to future litigation, *Id.* However based on *Menezes* and *Freeman & Mills, Inc. v. Belcher Oil Co. (1995) 11 Cal.4th 85,* another case cited by the *Robinson* Court, the principles permitting tort remedies were already in place.

Most of the cases involving the economic loss rule deal with warranties and the sale of goods and thus involve an entirely different set of considerations than is present in employment law. Evaluating the rule from Robinson in the employment law context is perhaps unnecessary; while ADP seriously mischaracterizes the 6AC, representing that the 6AC seeks "only economic damages" OB p. 49. The 6AC negligent misrepresentation claim (14<sup>th</sup> cause of action) alleges that Plaintiff "suffered harm." Plaintiff spent dozens of hours trying to understand her wage calculations, was terminated for seeking accurate wages and can show that her damages in this case go beyond economic losses and include, at the very least, the emotional distress and frustration suffered by a highly vexed employee.

Moreover, here, as above, ADP would be liable on a negligent interference with prospective economic advantage theory, as Plaintiff can allege "an economic relationship that probably would have resulted in a future economic benefit to Plaintiff" as well as the other elements, CACI 2204. In *J'Aire Corp. v. Gregory* (1979) 24 Cal.3d 799, 807, the Court stated, "This court has repeatedly eschewed overly rigid common law formulations of duty in favor of allowing compensation for foreseeable injuries caused by a defendant's want of ordinary care". As in *J'Aire, supra at* 807, "the critical factor of foreseeability" warranted the imposition of liability.

That Plaintiff could also make such a negligent interference claim is one indicator that the court of appeal's holding in this case is in accord with general principles in California case law. Though the point is technically not necessary for a finding of a duty under *Biakanja*.

18. Given the Court's clear statement of the appropriate duty analysis in *Erlich v.*Menezes, ADP's discussion of privity is outdated and irrelevant. Privity of contract is not necessary to for the imposition of a duty, and has not been since at least 1958 when *Biakanja v. Irving, 49 Cal. 2d 647* was decided; see *Quelimane Co. v.*Stewart Title Guaranty Co. (1998) 19 Cal.4th 26, 58 [citing Biakanja] though Biakanja also cites several California cases dating back to 1928; Biakanja, supra at 649-650. Thus when the Court stated that "Privity of contract is no longer

necessary to recognition of a duty in the business context and public policy may dictate the existence of a duty to third parties", *Quelimane*, *supra*, *at 58*, it was acknowledging a trend that was already decades old.

### NEGLIGENT MISREPRESENTATION

19. After insisting that ADP does not provide professional services, ADP accepts the characterization of ADP as a party to "a professional services contract", and maintains such a status precludes recovery, OB p. 49/fn. 25 [citing only federal cases]. Without citation to any specific authority, and without analysis, ADP counsel asserts that Plaintiff 'is barred from asserting a negligent misrepresentation claim under "this Court's precedent" restricting tort remedies, OB, p. 49-50.

Though ADP did not cite 'this Court's precedents' at all. Of the federal cases cited by ADP, only JMP contains a cause of action for negligent misrepresentation and any discussion of economic loss rule. *Multifamily Captive Group, LLC v.*Assurance Risk Managers, Inc. United States District Court, E.D. California. May 27, 2009629 F.Supp.2d 1135, and Intelligraphics, Inc. v. Marvell Semiconductor, 2009 WL 330259 (N.D.Cal. 2009) offer limited discussion of the economic loss rule in fraud cases, are primarily concerned with circumstances where a party that failed to meet its contractual obligations is charged with fraud. None of the cases mentioned involve employment law, and Plaintiff can only guess at the arguments that Defendant might offer in the Reply Brief to establish the thesis.

Erlich v. Menezes, supra at 551, states the rule plainly; a cause of action arises where the court finds a tort duty independent of the contract. Again on the assumption that the 3<sup>rd</sup> party beneficiary analysis and a tort duty analysis must be completely independent with regard to the reasons or facts considered in the analysis, ADP argues that "the negligent misrepresentation cause of action necessarily fails because the court of appeal relied on its third-party creditor beneficiary classification to justify tort liability". This is an obvious non sequitur, as giving one legally unsupported reason has no bearing on the effect of other reasons given. The court gave additional reasons that warrant liability independent of the third-party beneficiary analysis.

20. As regards the economic loss doctrine as a bar to recovery more generally, the law is clear that "Where a special relationship exists between the parties, a plaintiff may recover for loss of expected economic advantage through the negligent performance of a contract although the parties were not in contractual privity" 

J'Aire, supra at 804. See also the court of appeal opinion at fn. 11 [citing cases]. 

ADP does not analyze the special relationship doctrine and should be deemed to have waived any challenge to that aspect of the court's ruling. Though there are solid grounds for finding a special relationship in this context, in that ADP did not merely increase the risk of harm to Plaintiff, cf Adam v. City of Fremont, 69 

Cal.App.4th 105 (1998), it had a significant or perhaps exclusive role in causing

the harm, and the courts have acknowledged that "the wages an employer owes its employees are accorded "a special status" under California law", *Davis v. Farmers*Ins. Exchange, (2016) 245 Cal.App.4th 1302.

21. After insisting ADP does not provide professional services, ADP counsel argues that the court of appeal failed to apply recognized limitations applicable to claims against professionals such as auditors, attorneys, architects, engineers and title insurers, who generally provide reports or opinions...", OB p. 50.

Wage statements, designed to allow employees to verify they were paid properly for the work they perform, are not reports or opinions, though more crucially, the concerns properly motivating the Court in *Bily* are not present. In *Bily, supra at 398*, the Court stated, "Even when foreseeability was present, we have on several recent occasions declined to allow recovery on a negligence theory when damage awards threatened to impose liability out of proportion to fault or to promote virtually unlimited responsibility for intangible injury." ADP is neither being held liable out of proportion to fault or in a position to have 'virtually unlimited liability'. The limits in this case are quite clear; ADP, paid to provide accurate wage statements and apply wage law correctly, bears potential liability to the employees for whom it prepares wage statements in California. ADP's cite to Restatement (Second) of Torts §552(2) supports Plaintiff's position; employees are not in the 'much larger class who might reasonably be expected sooner or later to

have access to the information'. ADP evidently doesn't disagree, as it recites the section in its entirety without applying it to the facts.

#### **CONCLUSION**

All in all Defendants' tort analysis is unfair and carefully avoids addressing the primary issue: What special features of wage law suggest that underpayment and misrepresentations relating to pay are appropriate candidates for the imposition of tort remedies? The question has nothing to do with the application of the economic loss doctrine pertaining to construction defects or the economic expectations of purchasers, areas which have occupied the Court's attention in the past. ADP's treatment of the special relationship requirement in the economic loss analysis consists of nothing more than a recitation of the appellate court's reasoning. That omission is telling; ADP evidently believes that the less attention to the truly relevant aspects of wage law the better. (As it failed to develop any such argument in its Opening Brief, any challenge to that language in the opinion should be deemed waived.)

The Opening Brief is replete with ad hominems, bandwagon arguments, inconsistencies and repetition. Additional detail in the 6AC, permitting decision-making in a more detailed factual context is 'embellished', OB p. 9. After refusing to produce any documents pertaining to any Altour/ADP agreement in discovery, ADP insinuates Plaintiff's account of the oral agreement is 'fictionalized', OB p. 47.

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